
 
 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

No. 18-CIV-60379-ALTMAN/HUNT 

 
 

 
FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION, 
 
          Plaintiff, 
 
 v. 
 
THOMAS DLUCA, individually and also 
d/b/a Bitcoin Funding Team and 
My7Network,  
 
LOUIS GATTO, individually and also d/b/a 
Bitcoin Funding Team and My7Network,  
 
ERIC PINKSTON, individually and also 
d/b/a Bitcoin Funding Team and 
My7Network, and  
 
SCOTT CHANDLER, individually and also 
d/b/a Bitcoin Funding Team and JetCoin, 
 
          Defendants. 

 
 

 

STIPULATED ORDER FOR PERMANENT INJUNCTION  
AGAINST DEFENDANT WILLIAM SCOTT CHANDLER 

 
Plaintiff, the Federal Trade Commission (“Commission” or “FTC”), filed its Complaint 

for Permanent Injunction and Other Equitable Relief pursuant to Section 13(b) of the Federal 

Trade Commission Act (“FTC Act”), 15 U.S.C. § 53(b).  The Commission and William Scott 

Chandler (“Settling Defendant”) stipulate to the entry of this Stipulated Order for Permanent 

Injunction against Defendant William Scott Chandler (“Order”) to resolve all matters in dispute 

in this action between them. 
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THEREFORE, IT IS ORDERED  as follows: 

FINDINGS 

1. This Court has jurisdiction over this matter. 

2. The Complaint charges that Defendants participated in deceptive acts or practices 

in violation of Section 5 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a), in connection with the marketing of 

cryptocurrency schemes by: (a) representing that such schemes were bona fide money-making 

opportunities when, in fact, they were chain referral schemes; and (b) by making false or 

misleading income claims.   

3. Settling Defendant neither admits nor denies any of the allegations in the 

Complaint, except as specifically stated in this Order.  Only for purposes of this action, Settling 

Defendant admits the facts necessary to establish jurisdiction. 

4. Settling Defendant waives any claim that he may have under the Equal Access to 

Justice Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2412, concerning the prosecution of this action through the date of this 

Order, and agrees to bear his own costs and attorney fees. 

5. Settling Defendant waives all rights to appeal or otherwise challenge or contest 

the validity of this Order. 

 DEFINITIONS  

For the purpose of this Order, the following definitions apply: 

A.  “Business Venture” means any written or oral business arrangement, however 

denominated, whether or not covered by 16 C.F.R. Part 437, that consists of providing payment 

or other consideration for the right or means to offer, sell, or distribute a good or service.   
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B. “Defendant(s)” means Thomas Dluca, Louis Gatto, Eric Pinkston, and William 

Scott Chandler, individually, collectively, or in any combination. 

C. “Investment Opportunity” means anything, tangible or intangible, that is 

offered, offered for sale, sold, or traded based wholly or in part on representations, either express 

or implied, about past, present, or future income, profit, or appreciation. 

D. “Multi-Level Marketing Program ” means any plan or program in which a 

participant has the right to (1) recruit others into the program or have others placed in the 

participant’s downline and (2) receive payment or other compensation that is based, in whole or 

in part, upon purchases, sales, or any other activities of the participant’s downline. Downline 

refers to the collection of participants whom a participant has personally recruited (first level), 

any participants and customers recruited by first level participants (second level), any 

participants and customers recruited by second level participants (third level), and so forth, 

however denominated. 

E. “Person” means an individual, organization, financial institution, or other legal 

entity, including, but not limited to, an association, cooperative, corporation, limited liability 

company, partnership, proprietorship, or trust, or combination thereof. 

F. “Settling Defendant”  means William Scott Chandler, also known as Scott 

Chandler. 

ORDER 

I. BAN ON PROHIBITED MARKETING PROGRAMS 

IT IS ORDERED that Settling Defendant, whether acting directly or indirectly, is 

permanently restrained and enjoined from engaging, participating, or assisting others in the 
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5. any material restriction, limitation, or condition to purchase, receive, or 

participate in the Investment Opportunity or Business Venture;  

6. any material aspect of the performance, efficacy, nature, or central 

characteristics of the Investment Opportunity or Business Venture; or 

7. any material aspect of the nature or terms of the refund, cancellation, 

exchange, or repurchase policies of the Investment Opportunity or Business Venture. 

B. Making any representation, expressly or by implication, regarding the amount or 

level of income, including full-time or part-time income, that a participant can reasonably expect 

to earn through an Investment Opportunity or Business Venture unless the representation is non-

misleading and, at the time, such representation is made, Settling Defendant possesses and relies 

upon competent and reliable evidence sufficient to substantiate that the representation is true.  

Implied representations regarding the amount or level of income that a participant reasonably can 

expect to earn include, but are not limited to, representations involving and images used to show 

luxury goods or an improved lifestyle. 

IV.   MONETARY JUDGMENT  
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V. ADDITIONAL MONETARY PROVISIONS  

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED  that:  

A. Settling Defendant relinquishes dominion and all legal and equitable right, title, 

and interest in all assets transferred pursuant to this Order and may not seek the return of any 

assets. 

B. The facts alleged in the Complaint will be taken as true, without further proof, in 

any subsequent civil litigation by or on behalf of the Commission, including in a proceeding to 

enforce its rights to any payment or monetary judgment pursuant to this Order, such as a 

nondischargeability complaint in any bankruptcy case. 

C. The facts alleged in the Complaint establish all elements necessary to sustain an 

action by the Commission pursuant to Section 523(a)(2)(A) of the Bankruptcy Code, 11 U.S.C. 

§ 523(a)(2)(A), and this Order will have collateral estoppel effect for such purposes.  

D. Settling Defendant acknowledges that his Taxpayer Identification Number (Social 

Security  or Employer Identification Number), which Settling Defendant previously submitted to 

the Commission, may be used for collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out 

of this Order, in accordance with 31 U.S.C. §7701. 

E.      All money paid to the Commission pursuant to this Order may be deposited into a 

fund administered by the Commission or its designee to be used for equitable relief, including 

consumer redress and any attendant expenses for the administration of any redress fund.  If a 

representative of the Commission decides that direct redress to consumers is wholly or partially 

impracticable or money remains after redress is completed, the Commission may apply any 

remaining money for such other equitable relief (including consumer information remedies) as it 

determines to be reasonably related to Defendants’ practices alleged in the Complaint.  Any 
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money not used for such equitable relief is to be deposited to the U.S. Treasury as disgorgement.  

Settling Defendant has no right to challenge any actions the Commission or its representatives 

may take pursuant to this Subsection.  
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custody or control within 30 days after receipt of written direction to do so from a representative 

of the Commission. 

Provided, however, that customer information need not be disposed of, and may be 

disclosed, to the extent requested by a government agency or required by law, regulation, or 

court order. 

VIII. COOPERATION 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED  that Settling Defendant must fully cooperate with 

representatives of the Commission in this case and in any investigation related to or associated 

with the transactions or the occurrences that are the subject of the Complaint.  Settling Defendant 

must provide truthful and complete information, evidence, and testimony.  Settling Defendant 

must appear for interviews, discovery, heari
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responsibilities for conduct related to the subject matter of the Order and all agents and 

representatives who participate in conduct related to the subject matter of the Order; and (3) any 

business entity resulting from any change in structure as set forth in the Section titled 

Compliance Reporting.  Delivery must occur within 7 days of entry of this Order for current 

personnel.  For all others, delivery must occur before they assume their responsibilities. 

C. From each individual or entity to which Settling Defendant delivered a copy of 

this Order, Settling Defendant must obtain, within 30 days, a signed and dated acknowledgment 

of receipt of this Order. 

X. COMPLIANCE REPORTING 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED  that Settling Defendant make timely submissions to the 

Commission: 

A. One year after entry of this Order, Settling Defendant must submit a compliance 

report, sworn under penalty of perjury.  Settling Defendant must: 

1. identify all telephone numbers and all physical, postal, email, and Internet 

addresses, including all residences; 

2. identify the primary physical, postal, and email address and telephone 

number, as designated points of contact, which representatives of the Commission may 

use to communicate with Settling Defendant;  

3. identify all of Settling Defendant’s businesses by all of their names, 

telephone numbers, and physical, postal, email, and Internet addresses; 

4. describe the activities of each business, including the goods and services 

offered, the means of advertising, marketing, and sales, and the involvement of any other 

Defendant (which Settling Defendant must describe if he knows or should know due to 

Case 0:18-cv-60379-RKA   Document 207-1   Entered on FLSD Docket 08/22/2019   Page 9 of 14



10 
��

his own involvement); 

5. describe in detail Settling Defendant’s involvement in each such business, 

including title, role, responsibilities, participation, authority, control, and any ownership; 

6. identify all business activities, including any business for which Settling 

Defendant performs services whether as an employee or otherwise and any entity in 

which Settling Defendant has any ownership interest; 

7. describe in detail whether and how Settling Defendant is in compliance 

with each Section of this Order; and 

8. provide a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained pursuant to this 

Order, unless previously submitted to the Commission. 

B. For 15 years after entry of this Order, Settling Defendant must submit a 

compliance notice, sworn under penalty of perjury, within 14 days of any change in the 

following:  

1.1.1.

1.1.1.
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C. Settling Defendant must submit to the Commission notice of the filing of any 

bankruptcy petition, insolvency proceeding, or similar proceeding by or against Settling 

Defendant within 14 days of its filing. 

D. Any submission to the Commission required by this Order to be sworn under 

penalty of perjury must be true and accurate and comply with 28 U.S.C. § 1746, such as by 

concluding: “I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States of America 

that the foregoing is true and correct.  Executed on: _____” and supplying the date, signatory’s 

full name, title (if applicable), and signature. 

E. Unless otherwise directed by a Commission representative in writing, all 

submissions to the Commission pursuant to this Order must be emailed to DEbrief@ftc.gov or 

sent by overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service) to: Associate Director for Enforcement, 

Bureau of Consumer Protection, Federal Trade Commission, 600 Pennsylvania Avenue NW, 

Washington, DC 20580.  The subject line must begin:  FTC v. Dluca, FTC File No. X180024. 

XI. RECORDKEEPING 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED  that Settling Defendant must create certain records for 15 

years after entry of the Order, and retain each such record for 5 years.  Specifically, Settling 

Defendant, for any business that Settling Defendant, individually or collectively with any other 

Defendant, is a majority owner or controls directly or indirectly, must create and retain the 

following records: 

A. accounting records showing the revenues from all goods or services sold, 

including all goods or services sold to participants in an Investment Opportunity or Business 
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C. The Commission may use all other lawful means, including posing, through its 

representatives as consumers, suppliers, or other individuals or entities, to Settling Defendant or 

any individual or entity affiliated with Settling Defendant, without the necessity of identification 

or prior notice.  Nothing in this Order limits the Commission’s lawful use of compulsory 

process, pursuant to Sections 9 and 
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IT IS SO STIPULATED: 

san Aijaz 
Bryan Street, Suite 2150 

llas, Texas 75201 
Attorney for Plaintiff Federal Trade Commission 

Date: 

FOR SETTLING DEFENDANT WILLIAM SCOTT CHANDLER 

B~=~~~>--_..L-.c..__ 
Da · raun, Esq. 
1601 North Palm Avenue, Suite 301 
Pembroke Pines, Florida 33026 
Attorney for Settling Defendant Scott Chandler 
and Defendant Louis Gatto 

SETTLING DEFENDANT: 

WILLIAM SCOTT CHANDLER 

Date: ~(?J{[Cf 

/LI 
Date: __!i_.f.!.i 
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